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1
            I

            To Be or Not to Be a Nazi

         

         I wasn’t particularly destined to take an interest in Nazis. My father’s parents were neither on the victims’ nor the executioners’ side. They didn’t distinguish themselves with acts of bravery, but neither did they commit the sin of excess zeal. They were simply Mitläufer, people who “followed the current.” Simply, in the sense that their attitude was shared by the majority of the German people, an accumulation of little blindnesses and small acts of cowardice that, when combined, created the necessary conditions for the worst state-orchestrated crimes known to humanity. For many years after the defeat, my grandparents, like most Germans, lacked the hindsight to realize that though the impact of each Mitläufer was tiny on an individual level, it had a cumulative effect, since without their participation, Hitler would not have been able to commit crimes of such magnitude. The Führer himself sensed this and regularly took the measure of his people to see how far he could go, all the while inundating them with Nazi and anti-Semitic propaganda. The first massive deportation of Jews in Germany, which would test the general population’s threshold of acceptance, took place in the exact same region where my grandparents lived. In October 1940, more than 6,500 Jews from the southwest of the 2country were deported to the Gurs camp in the south of France. To accustom their citizens to such a spectacle, German forces of law and order attempted to save face by avoiding violence and commissioning passenger cars—not the freight trains that were later used. But the Nazis wanted to know how much the people would be able to stomach. They didn’t hesitate to operate in broad daylight, herding hundreds of Jews through the city center to reach the train station, with their heavy suitcases, their children in tears, and their exhausted elderly—all of this right before the eyes of apathetic citizens who were incapable of exercising their humanity. The next day, the Gauleiter (district chiefs) proudly announced to Berlin that their region was the first in Germany to be judenrein (purified of Jews). The Führer must have rejoiced to be so well understood by his people: the time was ripe for “following.”

         One episode, unfortunately one of the few, proved that the population had not been as powerless as it hoped to appear after the war. In 1941, protests by citizens and Catholic and Protestant bishops across Germany succeeded in disrupting the planned extermination of physically and mentally disabled people, or those judged as such, that had been ordered by Adolf Hitler in an effort to purge the Aryan race of “life unworthy of life.” Although this secret operation, called Aktion T4, was in full swing, having already gassed 70,000 people in specialized centers in Germany and Austria, Hitler relented in the face of public indignation and called off his plan before it could be completed. The Führer understood the risk he would run if the population perceived him as too overtly cruel. This was also one of the reasons the Third Reich expended an insane amount of energy organizing an extremely complex and expensive system to transport Jews from all over Europe to isolated camps in Poland, where they were murdered far from the eyes of their fellow citizens.

         But in the aftermath of the war, no one, or almost no one, in Germany asked themselves what might have happened if the majority of citizens had not followed the current, but instead turned against 3a politics that had revealed relatively early its intention to crush human dignity under its heel. Going along with these politics, like my grandpa, my opa did, was so widespread that this crime was mitigated by its banality, even in the eyes of the Allied forces who got it into their heads to denazify Germany. After their victory, Americans, French, British, and Soviets divided the country and Berlin into four zones of occupation where each engaged in eradicating the Nazi elements of society with the help of German arbitration hearings. They determined four degrees of implication in Nazi crimes, the first three of which theoretically justified the opening of a judicial investigation: the “major offenders” (Hauptschuldige); the “offenders” (Belastete); the “lesser offenders” (Minderbelastete); and the “followers” (Mitläufer). According to the official definition, this last term designated “those who did not participate more than nominally in National Socialism,” in particular “the members of the National Socialist German Workers’ Party (NSDAP) … who only went so far as to pay membership fees and attend required meetings.”

         In reality, among the 69 million inhabitants who lived within the borders of the Reich in 1937, the number of Mitläufer surpassed the 8 million members of the NSDAP. Millions of others had joined affiliated organizations, and still more had cheered National Socialism without belonging to a Nazi organization. For example, my grandmother, who was not an NSDAP member, was more devoted to Adolf Hitler than my grandfather, who was an official party member. But the Allies didn’t have time to examine such nuances. They already had enough to handle with the offenders, both major and lesser: the multitude of high-level officials who had given criminal orders within the bureaucratic labyrinth of the Third Reich, and the many who had executed those orders, oftentimes with an infamous zeal.

         People like my grandfather who were members of the Nazi Party emerged almost unscathed. His only punishment was to lose control of his small petroleum products business, Mineralölgesellschaft Schwarz & Co., which was consigned for several years to 4an administrator appointed by the Allied authorities. He would probably have also found it difficult to get a job as a civil servant if he had wanted one. His daughter, my aunt Ingrid, thinks she remembers him being condemned to “break stones,” but strangely, my father has no memory of this and is sure that, in the unlikely event of such a verdict, my grandfather, “clever as he was,” would have arranged to spare himself the task. He mainly remembers that his father’s business was never better than during that period of forced unemployment, as he turned out to be a much more resourceful businessman on the black market than on the regular one. He remembers that there was always wine on the Schwarz table, as well as meat, eggs, and apples—while many forgot the taste of these products in the ruins of Germany after the war. This discrepancy between the memories of Karl Schwarz’s two children reflects the fact that one was as devoted to her father as the other was estranged from him.

         Of course, the Allies couldn’t throw all 8 million members of the NSDAP in prison, largely because there wasn’t enough space behind bars. From spring 1945 on, the Allies moved forward with massive arrests of former party officials and members of the SS, sending about 300,000 of them to prison. Among the Allies, the Americans were by far the strictest in carrying out the denazification of their zone, at least at the beginning. As one of the largest cities of Baden-Württemberg, Mannheim, where my grandparents lived, was just inside the southwestern American zone, which included the north of Baden-Württemberg, Bavaria, and Hesse, along with the southwest of Berlin and Bremerhaven to the north, with its precious strategic location on the North Sea. The Americans had a good reputation, and my aunt Ingrid remembers them “always with a smile, healthy at the wheels of their Jeeps, adding a bit of cheerfulness” to the funerary atmosphere of postwar Germany. However, their commander, the future president of the United States Dwight D. Eisenhower, was quite pessimistic, estimating that it would take at least fifty years of intensive reeducation to mold Germans to 5democratic principles. The Americans were especially dependent on the media, which was under their control, to make the population feel the effects of crimes committed under the Third Reich and to convince the German people of democracy’s charms. But above all, they had the titanic ambition to delve into the pasts of all Germans over eighteen by having them fill out questionnaires, each with about 130 questions designed to indicate their degree of complicity with the regime and their level of ideological indoctrination. With highly bureaucratic rigor, the Americans began to sift through the millions of forms on their desks, in the interest of punishing the guilty and removing the elements of society most deeply imbued with Nazism. They fired all the officials who had joined the NSDAP before May 1, 1937, and who were therefore suspected of belonging out of conviction. At the end of winter 1945–46, more than 40 percent of government officials in the American zone had been let go.

         
             

         

         I couldn’t find a copy of my grandfather’s denazification questionnaire, but he must have filled one out, because a letter from the occupation authorities indicates that they knew very quickly of his party affiliation. After Karl Schwarz died in 1970, my father looked everywhere in his papers for traces of the card or for party insignia, without success. As soon as the Allies announced their entrance into Mannheim in March 1945, my grandfather, like many of his compatriots, must have thrown any compromising proof into the kitchen stove along with the Nazi flags that were flown from balconies on national holidays. Who knows, he may have even burned a portrait of the Führer that had once hung, as a safeguard, in his office, or destroyed one that my grandmother had saved in a drawer out of attachment. It was a wasted effort, since the local chiefs of the NSDAP fled the city without even a half-hearted attempt to destroy the registry of Mannheim party members, which the Americans found intact when they arrived. 6

         But Karl didn’t clear away his Nazi past completely. In Opa’s papers, my father found a very strange heraldic drawing: a knight’s helmet on a background of black and gold plants partly shielding an imaginary creature—a cross between a goat and a deer with red horns and hooves, whose neck is pierced by a red arrow. Beneath it, the name Schwarz is written in complex calligraphy, with the date 1612 and this text: “The origins of this bourgeois family whose lines flourish in Swabia and Franconia are to be found in Rothenberg.” Under National Socialism, genealogy was very much in vogue and even achieved quasi-official status in the service of the regime, which needed to lend its muddy theories of race a credibility that no serious science could provide. This drawing would have had only decorative value, since joining the Nazi party required a document that was more complicated to establish: a certificate of Aryanism, requiring an extensive number of detailed justifications proving the Aryan origins of the applicant and his or her spouse, at least as far back as 1800. It perplexes me that Karl Schwarz also had this nonrequired crest done in watercolor and ink. By all accounts, my grandfather was not a hardline National Socialist—he was too smitten with liberty. “He might have hung it in the offices of his company, so that whenever a Nazi client or official passed through, they would ask fewer questions and leave him alone,” my father said. In the thirties, rumors circulated in Germany about business owners suspected of hiding their Jewish origins, which contributed to an atmosphere of paranoia and accusation so intense that some people even published announcements in the newspapers denying any link to Judaism. Opa destroyed his certificate of Aryanism, but strangely, he spared his watercolor, and kept it until his death. According to my father, “he liked the drawing because it gave the illusion of a glorious ancestry. And my father sometimes had dreams of grandeur.” In some ways, Karl Schwarz was a man of his time.

         
            * * *

         

         7As they faced the scope of the task they’d given themselves, the Americans quickly decided to integrate the German justice system into the process of denazification. After the questionnaires were examined, the people suspected of being implicated were sent to one of a few hundred German arbitration chambers in the American zone. In Mannheim, they sifted through 202,070 forms, 169,747 of which were considered “not implicated.” Of the 8,823 Mannheim citizens judged at the German hearings, 18 were classified as major offenders, 257 as offenders, 1,263 as lesser offenders, 7,163 as Mitläufer, and 122 were exonerated. I doubt my grandfather had a hearing. Either way, since the Americans struggled to find “clean” German judges due to the high degree of complicity with National Socialism among legal professionals, and had to resign themselves to recruiting among the old guard, Karl Schwarz wouldn’t have had much to fear. Even less so once the occupiers could no longer afford to appear uncompromising while German personnel were urgently needed to deal with the numerous problems confronting their own society: malnutrition, a housing crisis, the lack of coal for heat…. Furthermore, American attention soon turned from former Nazis to focus on a new enemy—the Soviet Union and the Communist bloc. A rigorous start was followed by bungled measures, as the Americans attempted to wrap up the denazification process as quickly as possible in order to accelerate the reconstruction of western Germany, which was on the edge of Communist enemy territory.

         
             

         

         Unlike the Americans, the British were much less interested in denazification based on sanctions in their northwestern zone, which included Hamburg, Lower Saxony, North Rhine–Westphalia, Schleswig-Holstein, and the western sector of Berlin. Above all, they aimed for reeducation through newly created media outlets in the region. Sometimes democratization was imposed with an iron fist, as in the case of a British commander in the small town of 8Steinfurt, who forced the inhabitants to watch a film made during the liberation about concentration-camp victims. The relationship between the local population and their occupiers was much more distant than in the American zone, and the British were often regarded as a kind of colonial invader, particularly when they commandeered apartments in towns that were already suffering from an acute lack of housing after the bombardments. In truth, the British didn’t always have a choice about requisitioning, since they were very much weakened economically by the war and had difficulties financing the costs of the occupation. For the most part, they lived in parallel worlds. The British reserved a certain number of train cars, trolleys, businesses, and cinemas for themselves, with signs posted that read “Keep Out” or “No Germans.” They also reproduced their model of clubs, and though they occasionally allowed some Germans entry, this mingling was rare. The British quickly abandoned the idea of decontaminating German society and merely focused on banning former Nazis from applying for the most senior civil service positions and catching the biggest fish. They were so indulgent toward wartime complicity that some Nazis under American occupation hurried to reach their zone.

         More than anything, the British were eager to rebuild the economic power of Germany, in which they had their own vested interests. And so they proved to be accommodating if the accused were part of the Reich’s economic elite, as was the case with Günther Quandt. He was not a hardline National Socialist, but an opportunist who waited until Adolf Hitler came to power in January 1933 to finance and then join his party. A familial tie reinforced this financial proximity, since the industrialist’s second wife, Magda Ritschel, whom he had divorced, had gone on to marry Joseph Goebbels, the future minister of propaganda, in December 1931, with the Führer himself as best man. Despite the fact that he was in conflict with Goebbels over the custody of his son, Quandt’s loyalty to Hitler paid off, as he amassed a colossal fortune and 9became one of the Nazis’ largest military suppliers. During the massive labor shortage caused by the mobilization of men to the front, Quandt exploited some 50,000 forced laborers—prisoners of war and detainees in concentration camps, who were “loaned” by the Reich at low cost. In 1946, the Americans arrested Quandt, but he escaped the Nuremberg Trials thanks to the British, who “overlooked” the documents concerning his case and didn’t send them to the Americans, then continued the farce by officially classifying him as a Mitläufer. In January 1948, the Americans, for their part, refrained from investigating further and liberated him. Soon after, the British army rushed to do business with this weapons specialist.

         Quandt was a rare specimen. He made equipment that the whole world wanted, in particular, the battery for the “magic weapon” the Nazis developed during the war—the V2, the first operational ballistic missile and the precursor of intercontinental missiles and space flight. After the war, the Quandt family, which is now a major shareholder in BMW and other high-profile companies, was steeped in denial about the suspect origins of their fortune until a 2007 television documentary called The Silence of the Quandts forced them to acknowledge their past.

         
             

         

         As for the French, whose zone was the smallest—it included only a little strip of land at the French border and the northwest of Berlin—they also quickly realized the advantages of being lenient toward industrialists who, in return for this generosity, offered promising business opportunities. In general, the French acquired a reputation as the occupying force least interested in denazification. They preferred to accuse the Germans as a whole, without differentiating individuals by their degree of culpability or hoping to reeducate them. The feeble number of judicial procedures they undertook was in part due to the fact that France itself, having closely cooperated with the Third Reich, had a postwar administration rife with 10former Vichy collaborators who feared that accusations against the Nazis would return to haunt them. Among the Allies, General de Gaulle, who governed France after the war, was most in favor of policies that would weaken Germany, hoping for it to be permanently divided and to pay maximum reparations. This stance was apparent in the occupiers’ vindictive attitude toward the local population, who feared the French agenda. Though the French were only invited to the victors’ table at the last minute because of their collaboration with the Reich, they acted like a true occupying force—confiscating apartments to house their own teachers, engineers, and officials, exploiting German labor, and requisitioning food in abundance, while many Germans were living in basements, hungry and cold, with no fuel to warm themselves. There was even a series of rapes.

         
             

         

         In the Soviet zone, which spread across the five easternmost Länder—Thuringia, Saxony-Anhalt, Saxony, Brandenburg, and Mecklenburg-Vorpommern, as well as eastern Berlin—the denazification measures were applied not only to the Nazis, but also to “undesirables” whom the Soviets wished to get rid of. These so-called Class Enemies included the Junkers, who were the largest landowners, as well as members of the economic elite, social democrats, and other detractors of the new Communist regime, which the occupying authorities quickly tried to put in place following the Moscow model. The Soviets also left the Mitläufer in peace, perhaps because they recognized the opportunity to recycle them into good Communists. However, the more heavily implicated Nazis had more to fear in this zone than in the others, since they could not claim, with the Soviets, to have become Nazi party members to oppose Bolshevism, an argument that carried a certain weight in the West. As a result, many Germans preferred to flee the East, especially because of its infamous prison conditions. Thousands of presumed Nazis and “undesirables” languished in former concentration 11camps, where at least 12,000 perished. Thousands of others were deported to the Soviet Union, where many of them also died.

         In March 1948, the Soviets had already chased more than 520,000 former members of the NSDAP from civil service, particularly from the administration and the judiciary, where they quickly replaced them with “loyal” Communists. In less than a year, these new judges and prosecutors had been “trained,” and by 1950 they took on a series of expedited trials called the Waldheimer Prozesse, backed by the authority of the newborn German Democratic Republic (GDR). In two months, approximately 3,400 people accused of committing Nazi crimes were tried, without witnesses and without legal assistance, before these inexperienced judges and prosecutors. Their judgments were determined in advance to obtain the maximum penalty, without distinguishing among Mitläufer, true offenders, or enemies of communism. These phony trials were above all designed to legitimize, after the fact, the internment of thousands of people in special camps. More than half of the accused were given sentences of up to fifteen to twenty-five years in prison; twenty-four of them were executed. Then the GDR decided that the era of denazification was over and threw itself into a long denial of its historical responsibilities in regards to the crimes of the Third Reich, designating the Western Federal Republic of Germany (FRG) as the sole heir to that somber past.

         
             

         

         Germans did not support denazification of the population as a whole, which was perceived as an unbearable humiliation, a Siegerjustiz—a conqueror’s justice designed to take revenge. But they were largely in agreement with the idea of prosecuting the authorities of the regime.

         In November 1945, at the behest of the Americans, a trial opened in Nuremberg against twenty-four high officials from the Third Reich, before an international military tribunal under the 12authority of the four Allied powers. Treating “the war and the atrocities committed in its name not as politics by other means, but as a crime for which high-ranking politicians and military officers could be held responsible as they could for any other crime” was unprecedented, argues the lawyer Thomas Darnstädt in his 2015 book, Nuremberg: Bringing Crimes Against Humanity to Justice in 1945. The major points were developed in advance in Washington under the direction of Justice Robert H. Jackson. The Soviets, who were afraid of being accused of crimes themselves for the abuses of the Red Army and the nonaggression pact they signed with Hitler in 1939, asked that the international criminal jurisdiction accorded at Nuremberg only apply to Allied powers. Judge Jackson refused: “We are not prepared to lay down a rule of criminal conduct against others which we would not be willing to have invoked against us.” The British, who had their own intensive bombardments of German civilian populations in mind, negotiated a compromise: the rules of criminal conduct would be applied to everyone, but the Nuremberg trials would only be responsible for Nazi crimes. More than two thousand people were mobilized to prepare for the trial, sifting through at least part of the miles of archives left by the ultra-bureaucratic regime.

         A year after the Nuremberg trial opened, the verdict came down: twelve of the accused were condemned to death by hanging, including Hermann Göring, the Reich’s second in command; Joachim von Ribbentrop, the minister of foreign affairs; Ernst Kaltenbrunner, the last head of the powerful Reich Main Security Office (RHSA); Wilhelm Keitel, the head of the armed forces high command; Julius Streicher, the founder of the anti-Semitic newspaper Der Stürmer; and Alfred Rosenberg, ideologue of the Nazi Party and minister of occupied territories in the East. Three were condemned to life in prison, including Rudolf Hess, Hitler’s former deputy. Two others—Albert Speer, architect and minister of armament, and Baldur von Schirach, head of the Hitlerjugend 13(Hitler Youth)—received a twenty-year sentence. Four organizations—the NSDAP, the Gestapo, the SS, and the SD (Security Services)—were classified as “criminal organizations.” The judges decided against a petition by the prosecution to include the German General Staff and the Supreme High Command of the Wehrmacht (OKW) on that list.

         The trials demonstrated a resolve, on the part of the Allies, and especially of the Americans, not to let Nazi crimes go unpunished. They defined a new category of wrongdoing: crimes against humanity. But in the short term, these measures didn’t have the desired results. Justice Jackson stressed the prosecution of “crimes against the peace of the world” and “conspiracy.” This approach reinforced a myth that would take a long time to dismantle: that the Nazi crimes were the result of a secret plan developed by a small group of commanders surrounding Hitler that gave orders to people who were for the most part ignorant that they were participating in a criminal enterprise. Another problem jurists emphasized during the Nuremberg trials was the idea of a tribunal where the victors judged the defeated, imposing silence on the Allied war crimes: the Vichy collaboration; the massive American and British bombardments against German civilians; the atrocities committed by the Red Army in the Reich’s eastern territories; the atomic bombs dropped by the United States on Japan. But one of the greatest failures of the trials was to neglect the genocide of the Jews, as this offense did not yet exist. According to Thomas Darnstädt, “even in the face of this incomparable Nazi crime, there was still a taboo in international law against interfering in the ‘internal affairs’ of a sovereign state,” or so the crimes against German Jews were considered. Only crimes against foreign Jews were taken into account, and just after the war, many aspects of the Reich were still poorly understood. Experts had not yet analyzed the proceedings of the 1942 Wannsee Conference, where the Nazi commanders developed their plans for the Holocaust, which by then had already begun. 14

         Between 1946 and 1949, in keeping with the aims of Nuremberg, the Americans organized twelve more trials in their zone in three years, held under their sole authority—bringing more than 185 doctors, generals, economic leaders, jurists, high-ranking bureaucrats, and commanders of the Einsatzgruppen into court. Twenty-four were condemned to death, thirteen death sentences were carried out, and most of the rest received long prison sentences. At the same time, American public indignation in response to the images of concentration camps that had begun to circulate in the press led the United States to create a military tribunal on the grounds of the Dachau camp, to try the personnel of the six camps situated in the American zone. Approximately 1,600 of the accused were condemned, and 268 of the 426 death sentences were carried out.

         In the three Allied zones in the West, approximately 10,000 Nazis in total were condemned by German and Allied tribunals. Of those, 806 were condemned to death, and a third of them were executed. These figures reveal a certain effectiveness, considering the amount of time they had. However, many people who deserved imprisonment for their crimes during the Reich succeeded in slipping through the wide loopholes in the net cast by the Allies. To escape, you had only to pass as a Mitläufer by falsifying a few papers and paying one of the Persilschein, those false witnesses to “innocence” or “cleanliness,” who were named after Persil washing powder. These witnesses were rarely verified by the occupiers, partly because they were overwhelmed by the scale of the task, and also because their motivation quickly began to flag in the context of the Cold War.

         One of the largest discredits to the Allied cause was their own conduct in profiting from their position of strength by stealing German technological knowledge. From the beginning of the twentieth century, the spectacular achievements of German scientists were envied the world over. Between 1900 and 1939, thirty-four were awarded a Nobel Prize (fifteen in Chemistry, eleven in 15Physics, and eight in Physiology or Medicine), a quarter of them to Jewish Germans. During the same period, fourteen French scientists got the prestigious prize, twenty-two British, and seventeen Americans. The Reich’s defeat was the chance for these countries to help themselves to the kind of technological expertise they lacked, expertise that was especially important in the context of the Cold War. Through an American operation called Paperclip, scientists were discreetly taken out of Germany en masse and installed in positions at American companies and universities, so that those who had collaborated with the Nazi regime (such as Wernher von Braun, the father of the V2 ballistic missile, member of the NSDAP and the SS) wouldn’t fall into the hands of international justice. It was partly thanks to the breakthroughs of these experts in chemical weapons, space exploration, ballistic missiles, and jets that the United States benefited from a technical advantage during the Cold War. Numerous innovations from other sectors were also stolen, including electron microscopes, cosmetics formulas, recording devices, insecticides, and a machine for distributing paper napkins. The United Kingdom also partook of the feast. The historian John Gimble estimates that the Americans and the British made off with German intellectual property worth $10 billion at the time, the equivalent of $100 billion today. The French were much less involved in this siphoning off of German expertise. Unlike the other Allies, they didn’t think it was possible to take German technologies out of their context and apply them at home. Nonetheless, the French military and aeronautics sectors brought several hundred scientists to France, particularly those who had worked on the V2 rocket. Newly transplanted German engineers participated in the development of the first fighter jet engines, the first Airbuses, the first French rockets, submarines, torpedoes, radar, and tank engines, allowing France to make important advances in its military capabilities. As for the Soviets, they put thousands of German experts—including Wernher von 16Braun’s assistant—on trains to the Soviet Union with their families, enlisting them without ever asking their permission. These German scientists opened the way, at least indirectly, for the USSR to launch Sputnik, the first man-made satellite, in 1957.

         Despite these kinds of conflicts of interest, the Allies at least had the integrity to sanction, sometimes strictly, a number of war criminals and Nazi officials, giving Germans the foundations of a vague understanding of the harm a regime like the Third Reich could enact. Thanks to these efforts, my aunt Ingrid, who was born in 1936, told me that she had known in early adolescence that “the Nazis had committed crimes,” because “it was mentioned in school, and even in the media,” where she had seen photos of concentration camps. I was astonished, since my father, who was born in 1943, had always described a total amnesia after the war. Then I realized that Ingrid had gone to school at the moment when the Americans in Mannheim had begun trying to “reeducate” the people, but by the time my father was educated, the parenthesis of denazification had already closed.

         In 1949, the Western occupiers authorized the fusion of their three zones to found a new Federal Republic of Germany and allowed Germany to benefit from the Marshall Plan, a program that offered loans to most states in Western Europe to help with their reconstruction after the war. My father often says, “Germany was lucky to have been treated with such leniency after the crimes it committed.” Without the Cold War, Germany’s fortunes might have been very different.

         At the end of the 1940s, the Allies withdrew from the vast project of denazification. They lacked hindsight and didn’t understand all the complexities of the Nazi regime, but above all, outside forces could not do this work for the Germans. It was up to them to change their mentality and take charge of their own democratic fate. There was reason to be pessimistic.
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            II

            Germany, “Year Zero”

         

         After the war, my father’s family never talked about politics, and in general, discussions were rare at the dinner table—children were not allowed to speak unless they were spoken to, and breaking this rule meant a beating from Karl, who had an authoritarian idea of fatherhood. In the apocalyptic atmosphere of postwar Germany, the priority was not revisiting the past but pulling together a new life. The Schwarz family occupied a three-room flat on the second floor of an apartment building, which was built in 1902 by my grandmother’s father, a carpenter who bequeathed it to her—the sole survivor of his brood of nine children—in 1935. Though it had been severely damaged by the Allied bombardments, this building on Chamissostrasse was miraculously spared the worst, while the buildings on the other side of the street were reduced to barren ruins. This urban disfigurement still made a few people happy: “It was an extraordinary landscape for childhood adventures—we could run, jump, climb, hide, and discover piles of treasures,” my father remembers.

         
            * * *

         

         18During the war, Mannheim and the neighboring town of Ludwigshafen, at the confluence of the Rhine and the Neckar rivers, were targeted by more raids—304 in total—than any other city in the region because of the infrastructure of their ports and their roles as industrial centers. But in fact, the British were also intentionally aiming for the densest residential areas, as they did in many of their aerial attacks. To them, Mannheim seemed particularly suited for experiments with a type of offensive called “carpet bombing,” whose goal was to level an urban center to the point where it resembled a carpet. The city seemed ideal for these experiments because of the square blocks at its heart, which allowed the British Royal Air Force (RAF) to precisely determine the impact of explosions thanks to aerial photography. Luckily for my grandparents, their building was located just outside the city center. But some bombs were so powerful that the blasts could harm residences for miles around.

         My grandfather scrupulously documented such damage to his property as it happened in order to get reimbursed by the German authorities. My father and I peeled apart those files, which Opa carefully kept in his cellar for his whole life, as if he feared that years after the war, someone would come to challenge the losses he had sustained, to demand that he return his compensation. After each raid, the authorities would come to survey the damage and assess the level of reimbursement, which was often paid out much later: “Through air pressure following the bombardments during the aerial attack on the night of August 5 and 6, 1941, the building sustained damage to the roof and windows. Walls and ceilings were torn. The damage was recorded by a housing official and an architect. The sum of 4,841.83 Reichsmarks will be allocated. Furthermore, compensation totaling 340.67 Reichsmarks was allocated.” This letter from the Mayor’s Office is dated May 15, 1943—not only more than a year and a half after the events in question, but also in the middle of the Third Reich’s unraveling. 19I find it quite awe-inducing that despite the chaotic context, the German bureaucracy continued to function with such precision.

         The most devastating attack in Mannheim happened on the night of September 5–6, 1943. In a few hours, a fleet of 605 Royal Air Force planes dropped 150 mines, 2,000 bombs, 350,000 firebombs, and 5,000 bombs of white phosphorus. The inhabitants took refuge in some fifty-two gigantic bunkers hollowed out of basements. It was thanks to this infrastructure that the number of civilian victims of the bombardments in Mannheim was limited to approximately 1,800 dead, which is not many, considering the intensity of the assaults. When the inhabitants emerged like zombies from their underground hiding places, the city center was nothing more than dust, ruins, and flames. My grandfather’s entire petroleum products business, which was located near the port, was reduced to ashes. The apartment building had also been hit, but the bunker built in the basement to serve as a refuge for the tenants had survived. And that space is still there—the large steel beams on the ceiling and the huge armored door, hermetically sealed, and so heavy that, as a child, I couldn’t open it by myself when I went looking for preserves in the cellar. It was my aunt Ingrid who told me, much later on, that at the start of the war members of the NSDAP had sent men to transform their basement into a private bunker. Having one was a privilege compared to those who had to make a run for one of the public shelters scattered throughout the city.

         By the time the September raid occurred, my grandmother, like many other women and children fleeing the increased bombings in the city, had already left Mannheim with six-year-old Ingrid and my newborn father. “He was a sickly child,” my aunt says, “he caught bronchitis and couldn’t stop coughing. The doctor said, ‘With all this dust from the ruins, you’ll have to flee the city!’” Their first stop was in the Odenwald, a pretty region of hills just behind Mannheim. “We lived with two elderly sisters, and they couldn’t 20stand the baby’s cries anymore. So they said to my mother: ‘Lydia, you have to go elsewhere, it’s too much for us.’” Their journey took them to Franconia, in Bavaria, to the home of Karl Schwarz’s parents. “They were poor peasants who already had three children to feed. We lived on top of one another, and since there weren’t enough plates to go around, we plunged our spoons directly into a pot in the center of the table. I thought that was funny.” Oma, who was much less amused, couldn’t stand imposing in such a way and went to the mayor of the village, threatening to “create some mischief” if he didn’t find her a place to stay as soon as possible. “I went with her and she said something horrible to him like: ‘I’ll hang myself, or throw myself in the river with my children,’” my aunt remembers. A farmer offered her a room, in exchange for which my grandmother had to work long hours in the fields, no matter the weather, and milk the cows each day. I found photos from this exile, which lasted for two years. Ingrid with her two blond pigtails, agile as a gazelle in the green hillsides, and my father, his hair shimmering with golden highlights, worn like a helmet over his chubby face, stomping in front of a pen of geese, bursting into laughter. Sometimes Opa appears in these photos, but he rarely came to see them during that time.

         
            
[image: ]Lydia and Karl Schwarz in 1943, with their daughter, Ingrid, and son, Volker (my father), in Oberschefflenz. Lydia had gone to the German countryside with the children to escape the bombings in Mannheim.

            

         

         When the war broke out in 1939, Karl Schwarz was thirty-six, but he didn’t get conscripted, perhaps because of his age or because the burst of victories in Poland, Scandinavia, the Benelux countries, and finally in France in June 1940 had made replenishing the troops unnecessary. The unleashing of Operation Barbarossa on June 22, 1941, changed the terms, launching more than 3.3 million Axis soldiers against the Soviet Union on a front that stretched from the Baltic Sea to the Carpathian Mountains—a scope that was unprecedented in military history. The faster the Reich entrenched itself in this soldier-devouring war, the worse my grandfather’s chances looked of escaping the calvary of the Eastern Front. Karl, a bon vivant who had no intention of playing the little Nazi 21soldier on the glacial Russian steppes, had to skillfully maneuver to avoid this fate, since his Nazi Party membership was no longer sufficient protection. He had to convince the higher-ups of the absolute necessity of his presence in Mannheim for the functioning of his business, since his clients, deprived of their petroleum products, would be at risk of ceasing their essential activities for the Reich … Considering the very modest size of his company, and the pressing need for men on the front, Karl Schwarz must have displayed an uncommon talent for persuasion to successfully gain his exemption from required military service in the Wehrmacht. This was probably the moment when he had the idea of adding the Wehrmacht to his list of clientele, likely negotiating 22an advantageous price for them. In this way, he became useful to the economy of the Reich. I must at least recognize a certain talent that got him out of serving as cannon fodder for a band of suicidal, megalomaniacal Nazi criminals. It was only recently, in going through the endless filing cabinets stacked in the basement, that the context of Opa’s exemption emerged in another light. In a letter dated March 4, 1946, Max Schmidt, his partner in the Mineralölgesellschaft Schwarz & Co., accuses my grandfather of informing the Nazi authorities that he wasn’t a member of the NSDAP, with the sole intention of forcing him to be drafted into the army in Karl’s place in 1943. “You told me that my not belonging to the party obliged you to send me to my military duties: this is not the product of my imagination, but the reality, which, like other declarations, you now refuse to acknowledge. What’s more, you always twisted things to your advantage, while treating me like a necessary evil who could bring in money and contracts.” And he adds, “I did not become a soldier voluntarily. Enlisting me in the Wehrmacht gave you the chance to take control of the company…. the partner who stays at work has no right to profit on the back of the one who is drafted.” While he pled his own cause with the authorities, my grandfather must have realized that if, by arguing that the company needed a director, there was a chance to escape the Wehrmacht, it was either for himself or his business partner, but certainly not for both of them. And it was perhaps at that moment that he let slip, just in passing, that Max Schmidt, well, he didn’t have his party card.

         From spring 1943 on, with his wife and children in the countryside, Karl lived alone. The evenings must have become a bit sad on Chamissostrasse in the half-empty building whose inhabitants were either exiled from the city or at the front, braving death and cold, with the exception of three or four souls who continued to live together amid the ghostly architecture of apartments riddled with cracked, cardboard-covered windows and gaping holes in the ceiling, 23floor, and walls. To distract himself, my grandfather would go down a perpendicular street, the Lange Rötterstrasse, to a cabaret that was called Eulenspiegel, named for the joker and wit of folktales.

         Many cabarets, variety shows, and theaters in the Reich were allowed to pursue their work up until September 1, 1944, when the minister of propaganda, Joseph Goebbels, suddenly ordered them to close under the auspices of Totaler Krieg, total war. Until that date, artists were exempt from the armed services, since their role seemed essential in turning public attention away from the horrors Hitler was in the process of enacting. The establishment doesn’t exist anymore, but in my grandfather’s papers, I found a sheet of letterhead printed at the top in pretty, red calligraphy: Eulenspiegel—Parodistischer Kabarett, parody cabaret. At the bottom of the page, in small type, were excerpts from positive newspaper reviews. From the town of Saarbrucken: “Rarely is the art offered to us in such excellent form, with a repertoire of popular songs and classics, and a sharp, high-spirited wit.” From Mannheim: “The Eulenspiegel rapidly gained public support through its displays of originality, intelligence, and—what a rare treat—quality.”

         The letter, dated February 2, 1948, reads: “We hereby confirm that Mr. Karl Schwarz belongs to our troop,” and the paper is signed by the director of the cabaret, Theo Gaufeld. Whatever the purpose of this document, which by all accounts must have provided my grandfather an alibi to protect him from any irregularities after the war, it reveals that Karl must have habitually frequented this establishment. In truth, he’d cozied up to a woman, Mrs. Gaufeld, who was an artist and the director’s wife. He grew close enough to the couple that after his factory was destroyed in September 1943, he moved his office and his stock of oil barrels just next door to their apartment, into a brick factory on the outskirts of Mannheim, where he lived until the end of the war. And since it’s impossible that Mr. Gaufeld didn’t know about the intimate relationship linking his wife to their new friend, it’s likely 24that they began a kind of ménage à trois, which would last until my grandfather’s death. When Oma understood that the Gaufelds, who had so kindly taken care of her husband while she was away, were more than just friends, she was overcome with sorrow, and never really got over it. Luckily, she made this painful discovery much later, not right after the surrender of May 8, 1945, when she returned to Mannheim with her children. Another trauma awaited her: the city of her birth had vanished.

         Mannheim was one of the most devastated cities in southwestern Germany. Seventy percent of the center of Mannheim and 50 percent of the rest of the city had been destroyed. There had been the destructive September 1943 attack, followed by many others. Then, on March 2, 1945, with the war nearly over, Royal Air Force bombers had returned once more, unleashing a storm of fire that polished off what remained of the historic city. At the end of March, Mannheim laid down its weapons when the Americans arrived, unknowingly escaping the worst, since if they had encountered German resistance, the Americans had a secret plan that proposed dropping several nuclear bombs on German cities, with Mannheim and Ludwigshafen included among the proposed targets. If Oma arrived by train, she would have seen the great baroque castle next to the station perforated from every side, with only one room in five hundred still intact. To reach Chamissostrasse, she would have traversed the wide commercial arteries, once illuminated by department stores displaying an opulence that drew people from all over the region to do their shopping. Karstadt, No. 1 Otto Spuler, and recently Aryanized old Jewish establishments such as Kaufhaus Kander, Gebrüder Rothschild, and Hermann Schmoller & Co. had, for the most part, collapsed like houses of cards under the bombs. There was no trace left of the cafés that set out their pretty terraces in the summer to serve cream pastries and coffee to ladies, besides a few letters torn from their signs and broken dishes with café insignia, buried under the mountains of debris 25piled on either side of the roads. Whole streets had been wiped off the map, transformed into vast vacant lots, dotted here and there with the broken facades of apartment buildings, anchored like theater sets in the void. I imagine Oma, a very faithful Protestant, searching for the familiar outline of a church and finding nothing in its place but the skeleton of a nave, the fragments of a stained-glass window, and a cross balancing over an empty, soundless bell.

         
             

         

         How many Germans like my grandparents had seen their hometowns, the cement of their lives and identities, so destroyed? Hamburg had been transformed into a hellscape of flames, which cost 40,000 people their lives and demolished half of the apartments; Dresden, a baroque masterpiece, became a ghost town after a burst of bombs killed approximately 25,000 inhabitants. Hanover, Nuremberg, Mainz, and Frankfurt were 70 percent gone, while the whole Ruhr industrial valley—Cologne, Düsseldorf, Essen, Dortmund—had crumbled under attacks. Some communities were more than 96 percent destroyed, such as Düren, Wesel, and Paderborn. In total, almost one in five German families lost their homes. Between 300,000 and 400,000 civilians were killed, at least as many were disabled for life, and millions of others were traumatized.

         On February 14, 1942, the British Air Ministry had issued the Area Bombing Directive to the commander-in-chief of the Royal Air Force’s Bomber Command, Arthur Harris, which directed him “to focus attacks on the morale of the enemy civil population and in particular the industrial workers.” The order added: “You are accordingly authorized to employ your forces without restriction.” The next day, the commander-in-chief received an additional clarification: “ref the new bombing directive: I suppose it is clear the aiming points will be the built-up areas, and not, for instance, the dockyards or aircraft factories where these are mentioned in Appendix A. This must be made quite clear if it is not already 26understood.” Arthur Harris earned the nickname Bomber Harris. Before starting this book, I hadn’t heard of him. While I studied in London, I must have passed his statue outside the church of St. Clement Danes dozens of times without paying any special attention to it. But ever since history’s memory has become an obsession of mine, everywhere I go, I track it through all its diverse manifestations, generally devoting myself to this work alone, since not everyone is as enthusiastic about spending a day with the dead. And so I was able to use a quick visit to London to visit the statue of Arthur Harris, erected by the Bomber Harris Trust in 1992 and unveiled by the late Queen Mother as a monument to the glory of the RAF despite fierce criticism coming from some voices in both Great Britain and Germany. This time I read the inscription: “In memory of a great commander and of the brave crews of Bomber Command, more than 55,000 of whom lost their lives in the cause of freedom. The nation owes them all an immense debt.” The bombing of civilians was intended to undermine the morale of the German people and their support of Hitler’s war, but historians now agree that these attacks did little to shorten the conflict. These raids—which began as retaliation for the devastating German assaults on Coventry, and also on London and Rotterdam—took the form of a murderous vengeance. In the last months of the war, although the defeat of the Reich was assured, the British and Americans bombed Germany almost daily.

         Beyond the human toll, these ravages cost Germany huge swaths of its cultural and historic identity. It’s enough to look at photos of Mannheim, Berlin, and Cologne before the war—and see another country become visible. Yet even if the Allies committed crimes whose gravity they still struggle to recognize, the Reich must still take primary responsibility for this spiral of violence, since if it had never unleashed the war in Europe, Germany would never have been disfigured by what followed. And above all, it was not the bombs that made people suffer most, but rather the 27murderous fanaticism of the Führer that cost 5 million German soldiers their lives on the battlefields.

         
             

         

         My grandparents were not directly affected by the slaughter on the battlefields. But how many of their friends and family mourned loved ones lost in this vain war that Hitler was determined to prolong? Karl’s sister, Hilde, was married to an officer in the Wehrmacht who was caught by the spark of National Socialism and died on the Eastern Front, like the other 3.5 million soldiers who paid with their lives for their Führer’s fanatical refusal to beat a retreat from the Soviets, who had an obvious tactical advantage. After the failure of his plan, which predicted conquering the USSR in a few weeks during the summer of 1941, Hitler pushed his men to march on through the glacial winter up to the gates of Moscow, without any equipment to protect them from the cold. Without gloves or coats, in temperatures approaching minus 58 degrees, they were ordered to attack and to maintain their positions no matter the price. “We didn’t know where the front was. We stayed on our knees, or collapsed in the snow. The skin of our knees stuck to the ice,” wrote one Wehrmacht soldier. Unable to dig trenches to protect themselves in the icy, rigid ground, the German soldiers were squashed like flies, picked off by Russian bullets or overcome by cold and hunger. My aunt Ingrid’s boyfriend, who was hostile to Hitler, lost toes from frostbite at the gates of Moscow. A year later, despite warnings from his generals about the catastrophic state of the troops, the Führer once again forced them to attack, against Stalingrad this time, in an offensive without any hope of victory, which amounted to condemning his men—the 220,000 soldiers of the Sixth Army—to certain death. They were surrounded. Clothed in thin coats and without provisions, many died of cold and hunger. Only 6,000 ever came back home.

         
            * * *

         

         28In North Africa, another theater of operations, the death toll was low by comparison, with several tens of thousands of deaths on the German side, because General Erwin Rommel, nicknamed the “Desert Fox,” who led the German Afrika Korps against the British in North Africa and the Middle East, had the courage to disobey Hitler. During the battle of El Alamein, despite the evident logistical impossibility of pushing back the enemy, the Führer had sent one of his infamous Durchhaltebefehl, his orders to hold the line: “You have no choice but to show your troops either the way of victory or the way of death.” At the start, Rommel, who was otherwise very loyal to his commander, obeyed, but then he ordered all his mobile units to withdraw to the west. After the Allied landing in Normandy on June 6, 1944, which confirmed the inescapable defeat of the Reich, Rommel exhorted the Führer to put an end to the war, but this only served to provoke the rage of a tyrant blinded by his outsized ambitions. Though Erwin Rommel’s audacity and triumphs had thrilled Germany and terrified the enemy, a little while later he was suspected by Hitler of having participated in a failed coup of officers against the Nazi regime and received the order to kill himself, which he carried out. Despite a growing number of generals who tried to reason with him, Hitler remained stony until the end, strengthened by a coterie of persistent supporters among the high command. A few months before they surrendered, in their suicidal folly, the Nazis in charge could find no better course than widening the circle of sacrificial victims by recruiting thirteen- and fourteen-year-olds. They formed a Volkssturm, a “tempest of people,” charged with defending, practically without weapons, towns that would certainly fall to the enemy. These children were deliberately slaughtered to preserve the image of Germans who fought to the death, an image that flattered the Führer’s vanity.

         The Germans who lived through the last months of the war remember it as an apocalypse. Germany was collapsing, burning, 29exploding, tearing itself apart, agonizing in a hell worthy of Dante. In the confined atmosphere of his bunker under the Chancellor’s Palace in Berlin, where he had taken refuge with his entourage, Adolf Hitler paced like a lion in his cage as his gloom deepened into destructive madness, preferring shipwreck to surrender, to teach his own people a lesson, since they’d proven themselves “unworthy” of the National Socialist revolution. On April 30, after killing his dog, he shot himself in the head, while his companion Eva Braun poisoned herself with cyanide. On May 1, it was Joseph Goebbels, Hitler’s notorious minister of propaganda, who took cyanide along with his wife, after feeding it to their six children, little angels and model “Aryans” whom they had co-opted to make their propaganda films more moving to the German people. Once the arrival of the Red Army seemed inevitable, suicide spread like an epidemic. Clergymen, especially in Berlin, worried about the surge of faithful who came to confess that they always carried a capsule of cyanide with them. The number of Berliners who died at their own hands in the last weeks of the war probably exceeds 10,000. In Demmin, a little town in eastern Pomerania that fell to the Red Army on April 30, 1945, between 700 and 2,000 people committed suicide, including many women who killed their children first. Other towns suffered the same fate. My aunt remembers her mother’s despair. “The Americans were already in the country and my mother said to me, ‘We will not lose the war! The Führer will win! If we lose the war, I’ll kill myself!’ That made an impression on me.”

         
             

         

         If Oma didn’t act on her words, it was perhaps because compared to others, her own fate wasn’t so terrible. After crossing the center of Mannheim in ruins, her heart must have lifted when she saw the family apartment building, and a chance for her to reconnect with her childhood, still standing. The walls, a bit of roofing, and part of the stairs had been torn out, and all the windows had shattered. 30Little by little, the residents returned from exile and moved back into their apartments, but they had to share them with those who had lost everything. In Mannheim, out of 86,700 apartments, only 14,600 were spared by the bombs. Faced with a grave housing crisis, eight people had to live in an apartment the size of those in the Chamissostrasse building, which were all identical at 300 square feet. Opa escaped the rule by pretending that his brother Willy lived with his whole family under their roof. Nonetheless, my aunt remembers that they regularly hosted relatives in need and that she slept in the living room, behind a big sheet that had been transformed into a curtain. On the ground floor, an old bachelor who lived alone found himself with an entire family of refugees. “We called the refugees the Rucksackdeutsche [Germans with rucksacks on their backs]; we guessed that they had been through a nightmare,” she says.

         
             

         

         The German civilians who sacrificed the most were probably the 12 million to 14 million people expelled from the German territories in the northeast, from Czechoslovakia, and, to a lesser degree, from southeastern Europe, whose lands were torn from them after they’d lived on them for generations. Those from the northeastern territories fled under particularly terrible conditions before the advancing Red Army, whose violence had been stoked by the villages the Wehrmacht had burned during their retreat from Russia, and by the deaths of millions of Soviet prisoners of war at the hands of the Germans. More than 1.4 million German women were raped, and hundreds of men were sent to the gulag and condemned to forced labor. In Czechoslovakia, the situation was less bloody, but the forced departure of 3 million Germans was also a painful memory. Under the Austro-Hungarian Empire, the German Sudetenland, which designated the region of Bohemia and Moravia in the northwest of the country, had prospered and developed an important glass and crystal industry. The situation there had deteriorated after the 31dismantling of the empire and the proclamation, in 1918, of an independent Czechoslovakian state, which discriminated against the German minority. Invoking his “blood brothers,” Hitler annexed the Sudetenland in October 1938, cheered on by an immense majority of local people, who wasted no time in discriminating against and expelling the Czechs in the region. After the defeat of the Reich, vengeance switched sides and it was the Czechs’ turn to expel nearly all the Germans, treating them like lepers, throwing them into the streets, where thousands died of exhaustion, sickness, or at the hands of roving assassins. Edvard Beneš, the president of Czechoslovakia, decreed that all German possessions should be “seized,” i.e., stolen. In 2002, the Czech president Václav Havel officially condemned the expulsions. The welcome for these refugees was not warm in West Germany, where there were already so many local homeless. Empathy is rare when everyone is suffering.

         
             

         

         On Chamissostrasse, my grandparents couldn’t count on their tenants to get by, as they had financial problems of their own, and the damage insurance from the September 1943 raid still had not been paid out. My grandfather spent whole days making the rounds of the authorities. By chance, before the huge bombing, he had created a list of all their possessions, which I found in the basement in Mannheim. As I read this list enumerating each piece of clothing, each furnishing, each accessory my grandparents owned, I was thrust back into the decor Oma lived with when I was very young, which I had only vaguely remembered. After her death—when I was six—my father had completely transformed the apartment. With a bit of a lump in my throat, I clearly saw my grandmother’s bedroom, filled with dark, heavy furniture, an idyllic painting of the German countryside, a bed that was much too big for the size of the room, and above it, an imposing cross which Lydia prayed to every evening. The apartment consisted of a living room, a big 32kitchen where Oma spent days making large sheet cakes for the Sunday Kaffee und Kuchen, coffee and cake, and a Herrenzimmer, the men’s living room, where, in the armchairs facing the Art Deco cabinet and matching desk, men were permitted to smoke a pipe or a cigar if the finances allowed. I found another list dated the day after the devastating bombing of September 1943. Opa’s tally of losses—including “a canary and its cage,” a “doorknob,” “empty bottles,” and “empty fruit cases”—gives an idea of the stretched financial situation my grandparents were in at the time.

         Quickly, Karl Schwarz found a much more effective solution than state reimbursements to improve conditions for his family. The Allies had of course taken control of his business, but they didn’t know he still had a stock of barrels of oil and gasoline in a brick factory on the outskirts of town. In such scarce times, these reserves were worth gold on the black market, and my grand father brought home treasures: cartons of eggs that he stored in the courtyard shed, apples by the hundreds kept chilled in the cellar, whole hams which hung in the bathroom, and even—a forgotten luxury in these hungry days—fireworks and sekt, sparkling wine for the New Year. He was the only one on their street to have a car, and “there was always plenty of space to park it,” my father jokes. In the neighborhood, Karl Schwarz’s family seemed particularly well provided for, while other kids arrived at school with empty stomachs, wearing shoes with holes. “People were a bit jealous of us,” says my aunt, who has always given my grandfather credit for “knowing so well how to make good for his family.”

         Everyone did what he could in this rock-bottom version of Germany. One of my father’s great distractions as a child was to rush to the window as soon as he heard the big jeeps honking their horns at the door of the building—American soldiers coming to pick up friends for an evening out. “The woman downstairs had two daughters, and one of our neighbors was actually married but didn’t know if her husband would return, so she had to live,” 33he remembers. Many German prisoners of war couldn’t return home until several years, even a decade, after the end of the fighting, leaving their spouses in a state of destitution and uncertainty. Two million never came back from the Soviet Union, forced to work in horrifying conditions as payback after the Reich killed or abandoned 3.3 million of its 5.7 million Soviet prisoners of war.

         For a German woman at the time, it was better to have a husband declared dead than one declared missing, for in the first case, she could have immediate access to a pension, while in the second case, she would most likely have to survive for several years without any benefits, waiting until his death had been confirmed. “The young women of Mannheim resigned themselves to going out with the Americans, who took them to their barracks, where they could dance, see movies, get a meal, and enjoy themselves a little with the young men, who were alluring in their uniforms,” my father says. Sometimes these meetings gave way to pretty love stories, like that of one of the girls from downstairs who married an American and whose daughter, Cynthia, became my father’s childhood friend before her parents moved to the United States in 1949. For others, like the neighbor whose husband was a prisoner of war, these dates were a form of prostitution. Everyone in the apartment building knew, but it wasn’t looked down upon, since the cigarettes the Americans handed out sometimes allowed an entire family to survive. “Officially, the Americans had forbidden their soldiers to fraternize with German girls, but that only lasted a few months. And if my father allowed them in his apartment building, it was probably in exchange for a few things and some cigarettes.” Since the collapse of the Reichsmark, cigarettes had become the fiat currency of the black market, and it was impossible not to trade on it, since ration tickets allowed for only 800 to 1,500 calories per day for an adult in 1946, depending on supplies. Many went hungry, and some died—of cold as well, since coal was also rationed and the winter of 1946–47 was harsh. Opa has a picture in 34his photo album of the frozen Rhine, where Mannheimers strolled on the ice as if it were the Neva in St. Petersburg.

         Other new visitors made their appearance at the apartment building: the “uncles.” Since war widows had to remain single to get their pensions, they didn’t have any interest in remarrying. The custom was to pass off a new companion as an uncle, since the law forbade nonmarried couples from living together. The owner of each building was charged with enforcing this law or else paying a fine, but Karl Schwarz turned a blind eye, since he was no saint in matters of legality. He was generous by nature and shared his windfall from the black market freely with family and friends around a large Sunday table. “The discussions revolved around pensions that they worried they wouldn’t get because they had been bureaucrats or soldiers for the Reich, products that were impossible to find, and the neighborhood gossip … those were the preoccupations of the moment, not who did what under National Socialism,” my father explains.

         Sometimes, Mannheimers would pity those who had an even worse fate, like the Berliners, whose future seemed as grim as streets of rubble, haunted by wandering refugees looking for rats to eat, women who prostituted themselves for soldiers, and children eyeing the passage of trucks to gather any scraps of coal that might bounce off. Made in 1947 in Berlin, Roberto Rossellini’s film Germany, Year Zero is one of the most arresting eyewitness accounts of this world encircled by the void. Navigating through the phantasmagorical relics of the capital, the Italian director tells the story of a twelve-year-old boy, Edmund, who helps his miserable family by picking up odd jobs. To save his sick father, he calls on his old schoolmaster for help, and the man encourages him, following the eugenic Nazi ideology, to get rid of the feeble link in the family who threatens the survival of the group. After poisoning his father, Edmund commits suicide by throwing himself from the top of a ruin.
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